THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Appellate Case No.: 2021-001339

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes,
Petitioner,

v.

Bank of America National Association,
Respondent

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Bradley D. Hewett
D. Michael Kelly
MIKE KELLY LAW GROUP, LLC
1523 Huger Street, Suite A
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 726-0123

Attorneys for Petitioner

RECEIVED
OCT 04 2022
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Should this Court abolish the common law rule excepting fraud-based actions from South Carolina's survival statute?
2. Did the circuit court err in finding that the doctrine of *res judicata* barred Petitioner's claims?
3. Did the circuit court err in concluding that Petitioner's claims are time-barred?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arose from fraudulent charges made by Respondent against the bank account of John and Jane Hughes. On June 13, 2006, Mr. and Mrs. Hughes opened a line of credit from Respondent in the amount of \$120,000.00, secured by a mortgage (“Mortgage”) on their house in Spartanburg. The line of credit is governed by a document entitled “Bank of America Maximizer Agreement and Disclosure Statement” (“Agreement”) signed by both borrowers on June 13, 2006. (R. at 18, ¶ 7.) At the same time, Mr. and Mrs. Hughes signed an acknowledgement and authorization (“Authorization”) which allowed Respondent to automatically draft loan payments from the Hughes’s bank account with Respondent. (R. at 18, ¶ 8.)

During the meeting to complete the Mortgage transaction, Respondent presented Mr. and Mrs. Hughes with a document entitled “Optional Line Protection Plan Addendum (“Line Protection Plan”).” (R. at 19, ¶ 9.) If elected, the Line Protection Plan allowed the cancellation of all or some monthly loan payments in the event of disability, accidental death, or involuntary unemployment. The Agreement explicitly stated that the borrowers “must specifically request” the Line Protection Plan. (R. at 19, ¶ 10.) Mr. and Mrs. Hughes both signed a two-page document captioned “OPTIONAL LINE PROTECTION PLAN ADDENDUM (“ADDENDUM”)” which stated that Respondent provided them with information on the Line Protection Plan. (R. at 19, ¶ 11.) Jane and John Hughes declined the optional Line Protection Plan by clearly and conspicuously checking a box next to the “DECLINE to purchase any Protection on this Credit Line” option. (R. at 19, ¶ 11.)

In June 2006, John Hughes was age 86. (R. at 19, ¶ 12.) Mr. Hughes died on October 22, 2008, and left his estate to his wife, Jane K. Hughes. (R. at 20, ¶ 13.) Mrs. Hughes was age 85 in June 2006 and underwent major heart surgery, suffered from dementia, and experienced vision

impairments, including cataracts and eye surgery, from June 2006 until her death. (R. at 20, ¶ 12.) Mrs. Hughes suffered a broken hip after June 2006 that required hospitalization and extensive rehabilitation at a skilled nursing facility. (R. at 20, ¶ 12.) Mrs. Hughes also suffered from impaired cognition, atypical psychosis, confusion, blindness, renal insufficiency, heart failure, and a lack of decisional capacity in the years subsequent to June 2006. (R. at 19-20, ¶ 12.)

Over six years after Mr. Hughes's death, on or around March 17, 2015, Respondent sent a boilerplate form cancellation notice addressed to Mr. and Mrs. Hughes, informing them that "The Line Protection Plan would be cancelled on September 30, 2015," and that "You're no longer being charged for the Protection Plan as of April 1, 2015." (R. at 20, ¶ 14.) Prior to March 2015, Respondent did not provide any statement, notice, or communication of any sort to Mrs. Hughes that the Hughes's had elected any "Protection Plan" or that an amount was being charged to them for such a plan. (R. at 21, ¶ 21.) Although Mr. and Mrs. Hughes explicitly declined to purchase any "Protection Plan," Respondent sent a second letter dated March 25, 2015, stating that John Hughes had selected "6 month, Involuntary Unemployment, Disability, Accidental Death and Hospitalization" protection at a monthly rate of 9.5% of the Hughes' Minimum Monthly Payment. (R. at 20, ¶ 16.)

In response to an inquiry from a family member of Mrs. Hughes, Respondent stated in a May 6, 2015, letter that "The Line Protection Plan (Plan) addendum for your Bank of America loan ending in 4699 is enclosed, per your request...", and enclosed an eight-page document entitled "OPTIONAL LINE PROTECTION PLAN ADDENDUM ("ADDENDUM")." (R. at 20, ¶ 18; R at 35.) The eight-page "ADDENDUM" provided by Respondent in May 2015 is not the two page "ADDENDUM" signed by Mr. and Mrs. Hughes in 2006, and does not contain or provide for signatures or a place for election or rejection of the "protection." (R. at 20-21, ¶ 18.)

Respondent did not provide the eight-page addendum to Mr. or Mrs. Hughes before May 2015, nor did the Line Protection Plan premium appear on the mortgage finance charge disclosed to Mr. and Mrs. Hughes in 2006. (R. at 21, ¶¶ 19, 20.) Respondent has been unable to provide any documentation that Mr. or Mrs. Hughes ever elected or agreed to pay for any “Protection Plan” coverage of any sort. (R. at 21, ¶ 22.)

Although the Hughes unequivocally declined to purchase the Line Protection Plan, Respondent withdrew a monthly charge of \$28.40 from their joint checking account for several years. (R. at 21, ¶ 23.) This charge was ambiguously listed as “Ad Insurance Des:XXXXXX4374 ID: 6 R# XXXXXXXX1070 Indn:Hughes Sr, John P Co ID:XXXXXX4660 Ppd” and appeared amid numerous other monthly charges. (R. at 21, ¶ 23.) Notably, all other charges from Respondent or its subsidiaries appearing on the Hughes’s bank statements during the relevant period were clearly designated as transactions with “Bank of America” or “BkofAmerica” and other insurance transactions were clearly identified with the name of the charging company (i.e., “Patrons Mutual,” “Travelers Insur”). (R. at 21, ¶ 24.) Further, none of the numbers in the Line Protection Plan transaction description were related to the Hughes’s mortgage or line of credit. (R. at 21, ¶ 25.)

As neither Mr. nor Mrs. Hughes had elected Line Protection Plan coverage or had received any notice that Respondent had issued such a plan to them, they were not expecting to be charged for any such service and they did not have any reason to expect that “Ad Insurance Des:XXXXXX4374 ID: R# XXXXXXXX1070 Indn:Hughes Sr, John P Co ID:XXXXXX4660 Ppd” was a charge by Respondent generally or a “Line Protection Plan” charge specifically until receiving the March 2015 notices from Respondent. (R. at 22, ¶ 26.) Adding insult to injury, upon receiving notice of Mr. Hughes’s death, on May 6, 2015, Respondent declined coverage under the

Line Protection Plan on the grounds that “[t]he death was the result of disease or treatment of disease or any medical treatment (and/or was not for the treatment of an accidental injury).” (R. at 22, ¶ 27.) Respondent refused to refund the payments drawn during Mr. Hughes’s lifetime despite being unable to produce any documentation supporting the purported election to enroll in the Line Protection Plan. (R. at 22, ¶ 28.)

On June 3, 2015, Jane K. Hughes passed away, and her son, Petitioner Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, was subsequently named as personal representative of her estate. (R. at 22, ¶ 29.) Petitioner initiated the current survival action and fraud-based causes of action on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner filed the current survival action on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes on August 15, 2017, alleging fraud and other fraud-based causes of action. On December 21, 2017, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Prior to initiating the present action, Petitioner filed a putative class action lawsuit in 2015 against Respondent for violation of the Truth in Lending Act, fraud, fraudulent concealment, breach of contract, and breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent acts. Respondent removed the 2015 action to federal court and filed a motion to dismiss in lieu of an answer. Before the District Court decided Respondent’s motion, Petitioner stipulated to the dismissal, without prejudice, of all claims against Respondent except breach of contract and violation of TILA since the District Court lacked jurisdiction to decide a key issue related to those claims: whether existing precedent excluding fraud from the South Carolina survival statute should be overturned. The question is one left to the State to decide but, because case law provides controlling precedent on the issue, the question could not be certified back to the South Carolina

Supreme Court under South Carolina Rules of Appellate Practice, Rule 244(a). (R. at 44, lines 1-25.)

After voluntary dismissal of the fraud-based claims from the federal action, Petitioner re-filed those claims in his 2017 Complaint. Respondent moved to dismiss Petitioner's 2017 Complaint under the doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel, and the common law exception of fraud from S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90 (1976), South Carolina's survival statute. The circuit court granted Respondent's motion, finding the actions barred by *res judicata*, the statute of limitations, and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90. (R. at 1-11.)

Petitioner filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 27, 2018, challenging the circuit court's dismissal of the fraud-based claims alleged in Petitioner's 2017 Complaint. (R. at 281-282.)

By Opinion Number 2021-UP-341, filed September 29, 2021, the Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's ruling dismissing Petitioner's action based on the state's fraud statute. The Court of Appeals declined to address the circuit court's rulings that Petitioner's claims were barred by *res judicata* and the statute of limitations. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing in an Order dated October 20, 2021. Petitioner filed for a Writ of Certiorari on November 16, 2021. Respondent filed its Return to the Petition on January 5, 2022. Certiorari was granted on September 7, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity Providence Hosps.*, 409 S.C. 514, 519, 763 S.E.2d 200, 202 (2014) (citing *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.” *Id.* The court should not dismiss a complaint merely because the court doubts that the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116-117, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006).

The underlying issue on the first question presented is whether the South Carolina survival statute excludes fraud as a surviving cause of action. “Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law. . . .” *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which are subject to de novo review and may be decided by this Court without any deference to the court below. *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware*, 422 S.C. 1, 6, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018).

ARGUMENTS

The common law exception excluding fraud as a surviving cause of action, to the extent the bases of which has ever been adequately explained, is no longer viable and serves only to invite financial abuses of elderly South Carolina citizens and then protects those abusers from the legal consequences of their actions. There is no longer, if there ever was, any basis for a court to disregard the best evidence of fraud (e.g., a signed document) when there is no legitimate issue of intention or mental state to comply with caselaw based on outdated and inconsistent bases.

I. This Court should abolish the common law rule excepting fraud-based actions from South Carolina’s survival statute.

The arbitrary, court-created exception excluding fraud as a surviving cause of action should be abolished as it is in direct conflict with the survival statute and serves no public purpose in situations, as here, where fraud is targeted at elderly citizens. To the contrary, the exception provides an *incentive* to prey on elderly South Carolina citizens because they are less likely to be able to obtain relief for the frauds inflicted upon them.

A. Scope of the South Carolina Survival Statute

i. Mattison v. Palmetto State Life Ins. Co.

South Carolina’s survival statute provides that “[c]auses of action for and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses to and upon real estate and any and all injuries to the person or to personal property” shall survive the death of a party, whether the claim is on behalf of or against the deceased, “. . . any law or rule to the contrary notwithstanding.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90 (1976). The statute, enacted in 1905, allows for the survival of certain claims that were historically barred by a claimant’s death. *Bennett v. Spartanburg Ry., Gas & Elec. Co.*, 97 S.C. 27, 81 S.E. 189, 189 (1914). South Carolina’s survival statute has remained intact, and the language essentially unchanged, from 1905 to present. The courts have relied and still rely upon early judicial interpretations of the statutory language and legislative intent – created in an era devoid of credit card statements, electronic billing, and automatic funds withdrawals – in answering contemporary questions regarding the survivability of actions under the act.

South Carolina first addressed the question of whether fraud survives the death of a party under the survival statute in *Mattison v. Palmetto State Life Ins. Co.*, 197 S.C. 256, 15 S.E.2d 117 (1941). In *Mattison*, the estate brought an action against Palmetto State Life Insurance Company for perpetrating a fraudulent scheme intended to cheat the deceased of his rights under an insurance

contract. *Id.* The South Carolina Supreme Court granted certiorari to hear the case on several questions, the relevant question being whether the cause of action of fraud survived. *Id.*

In determining whether the fraud claim survived, the *Mattison* Court reviewed the survival statute to assess whether fraud fell within the scope of the statutory language. At that time, the applicable statute read:¹

Causes of action for and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses to and upon real estate and any and all injuries to the person or to *personal property*, shall survive both to and against the personal or real representative (as the case may be) of the deceased persons, and the legal representatives of insolvent persons, and defunct or insolvent corporations, any law or rule to the contrary notwithstanding.

1932 Code § 419 (emphasis added).

The *Mattison* Court succinctly opined that fraud did not fall within the scope of the statutory language, and therefore the Legislature did not intend that claims of fraud survive death.

The *Mattison* Court further provided that:

It is readily seen that under the above quoted Section, there are but two instances wherein a cause of action survives: (1) For and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses to and upon real estate, and (2) any and all injuries to the person or to *personal property*. And it is just as readily seen that respondent's second cause of action does not come within either of the instances where a cause of action survives.

Mattison at 256, 15 S.E.2d at 119 (original emphasis replaced).

Despite the instruction by the *Mattison* Court to liberally interpret the survival statute, courts have mistakenly given narrow interpretation to the statute and, in doing so, failed to explain why fraud does not constitute injury to personal property. In fact, there is no discussion in *Mattison* regarding the elements of fraud or *why* pecuniary loss caused by fraud *is not* an injury to personal

¹ The current survival statute is codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90, and the language is nearly identical to the 1932 Code with only some minor changes in punctuation.

property. This omission is relevant because the money taken by Respondent from Jane Hughes was personal property. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-1-40 (1976) (“[t]he words ‘personal property,’ as used in this Title, include *money*, goods, chattels, things in action and evidences of debt.” (emphasis added)).

Once Jane Hughes died, interest in her personal property, including her financial holdings, transferred to her Estate. Thus, *Mattison*’s principle that fraud does not survive the death of a party in South Carolina is, at least, internally inconsistent.

ii. Fraud as an “exception” to the South Carolina Survival Statute.

This Court has consistently *broadly* interpreted the survival statute. *See, e.g., Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc.*, 349 S.C. 558, 564, 564 S.E.2d 94, 97 (2002) (“[T]he statute’s language is broad and ostensibly appears to include almost every conceivable cause of action.”); *Layne v. Int’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, (AFL-CIO), Local No. 382*, 271 S.C. 346, 352, 247 S.E.2d 346, 349 (1978) (“[I]t is the general rule that any cause of action which could have been brought by the deceased in his lifetime survives to his representative under the Survival Act.”); *Brewer v. Graydon*, 233 S.C. 124, 128, 103 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1958) (“the Survival Statute must be liberally construed”). These opinions create a tension with *Mattison*’s holding—that fraud falls outside the scope of the statute—by implying that fraud ostensibly falls within the purview of the survival statute and would survive but for the *exception* created by *Mattison*. *See Ferguson* at 564, 564 S.E.2d at 96 (“The general survivability statute has a wide ambit that includes all causes of action not covered by specific exceptions.”); *Brailsford v. Brailsford*, 380 S.C. 443, 449, 669 S.E.2d 342, 345 (Ct. App. 2008) (Upholding a dismissal of a fraud-based action upon “[a]pplying this State’s longstanding exception to the survivability statute for fraud.”); *Layne* at 352, 247 S.E.2d at 349 (Identifying fraud as an “exception” to the general rule of survivability).

A review of the interpretation of the survival statute by South Carolina courts, as it pertains to fraud, reveals decades of precedent founded in error. The most recent opinion of this Court relying upon the *Mattison*-created exception, *Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc.*, strongly implies that fraud falls within the scope of the survival statute, but is excluded as a result of the *Mattison* opinion. The *Mattison* opinion, however, states in no uncertain terms that fraud “does not come within either of the instances where a cause of action survives” under the statute. *Mattison* at 256, 15 S.E.2d at 119. Bizarrely, *Mattison* serves as the foundation upon which the *Ferguson* opinion rests, yet the language of the *Ferguson* opinion directly contradicts that of *Mattison*.

Whether a cause of action for fraud is a common law exception to the survival statute or whether it falls outside the scope of the statute’s language is an important distinction. The survival statute, currently and when *Mattison* was decided, expressly provides that causes of action that fall within the scope of the statute survive, “any law or rule to the contrary notwithstanding.” *Id.*; S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90 (1976). Over the years, the *Mattison* court’s interpretation of the survival statute as not extending to actions of fraud has evolved into a common law rule excepting fraud. The result of that evolution is a “law or rule to the contrary” that is untenable under the plain language of the survival statute.

Despite this irreconcilable conflict, this Court has yet to revisit the *Mattison* rationale for the fraud “exception.” Indeed, there has been no discussion by South Carolina courts since 1941 on *why* fraud should be excepted from the survival statute; rather, opinions simply offer that fraud *is* excepted based upon *Mattison*. This case provides this Court an overdue opportunity to reexamine this issue of the survivability of fraud, determine whether the 1941 *Mattison* analysis is

still viable, and to reconcile the strained and outdated common law “exception” with the survival statute.

B. Public Policy

i. *Clear evidence of mindset defeats policy reasons for exception.*

Perhaps the only basis for South Carolina’s fraud exception was discussed in the Fourth Circuit opinion in *Faircloth v. Finesod*, 938 F.2d 513, 517 (4th Cir. 1991). The plaintiff in *Faircloth* challenged the fraud exception to the South Carolina survival statute as violating the Equal Protection Clause, and the South Carolina District Court agreed. On appeal, the Fourth Circuit, applying a minimum scrutiny standard, supplied its “feasible attempt for [the] legislative distinction:”

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