THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Dec 07 2022

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY S.C. SUPREME COURT
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001339

Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes,
Petitioner,

v.

Bank of America, National Association,
Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

McGUIREWOODS LLP

Robert A. Muckenfuss
(S.C. Bar No. 13903)
201 N. Tryon Street, Suite 3000
Charlotte, NC 28202
Telephone: (704) 343-2052

Elizabeth Z. Timmermans
(S.C. Bar No. 100288)
Jonathan Y. Ellis (*pro hac vice forthcoming*)
501 Fayetteville Street, Suite 500

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

ARGUMENT

As multiple federal and state courts have held, Hughes' fraud claims against BANA fail on several fronts. Before any question about the scope of South Carolina's survival statute arises, res judicata precludes Hughes' effort to relitigate the very claims he asserted in his initial federal action. That issue should decide this appeal. And if it does not, then the untimeliness of Hughes' claims should. Hughes did not pursue those claims here until over eight years after his parents knew or reasonably should have known that they were being charged for LPP coverage. Because those charges appeared on his parents' bank statements, they objectively could have known of the facts giving rise to their claims—yet they exercised no diligence in pursuing them. That lack of diligence both renders their claims untimely and defeats Hughes' request for equitable tolling.

Only if this Court resolves these issues against BANA—contrary to the rulings of several federal and state courts—does the survival statute’s scope even become an issue. And there, this Court should again reject Hughes’ effort to overturn clear, longstanding precedent. It would be especially inappropriate for the Court to abandon its 80-year-old reading of the survival statute because the Legislature has ratified the Court’s longstanding interpretation. It is not this Court’s role to now upend that settled interpretation of legislative intent. This Court should reject Hughes’ appeal and affirm.

I. RES JUDICATA AND STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS BAR HUGHES’ ACTION AT THE OUTSET.

This Court can and should decide this case on the straightforward grounds that Hughes’ fraud claims are barred by res judicata and are untimely. The Circuit Court correctly held that both defeated Hughes’ successive action, and this Court “may affirm the lower court’s decision for any reason appearing in the record.” *Dreher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015); see Rule 220(b)-(c), SCACR. Moreover, even though the Court of Appeals did not pass on those issues (because it did not need to), the arguments were raised below, Hughes raised them in his Petition For A Writ Of Certiorari, this Court granted certiorari to review the issues raised by that Petition, and Hughes fully briefed res judicata and timeliness in his opening brief. There is no reason to address whether Hughes’ fraud-based claims remain viable under the survival statute when they cannot overcome either of these procedural hurdles—much less both.

A. Hughes Already Litigated His Fraud-Based Claims.

Hughes cannot escape the preclusive effect of his earlier federal action. Res judicata’s “fundamental purpose . . . is to ensure that ‘no one should be twice sued for the same cause of action.’” *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 173, 712 S.E.2d 408, 414 (2011) (quoting *First Nat’l Bank*

of *Greenville v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 207 S.C. 15, 24, 35 S.E.2d 47, 56 (1945)). The doctrine thus bars a subsequent suit between the same parties when the successive action arises out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action. See *Sub-Zero Freezer Co. v. R.J. Clarkson Co.*, 308 S.C. 188, 190, 417 S.E.2d 569, 571 (1992). As this Court long ago recognized, “[a] claim which is in its nature entire cannot be split up into several causes of action, and if suit is brought for a part only of the items constituting an entire claim,” that suit bars any subsequent suit based on the same claim. *Floyd v. Am. Employers’ Ins. Co. of Bos., Mass.*, 187 S.C. 344, 350, 197 S.E. 385, 387 (1938); see also Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 24, cmt. a (1982) (describing a “claim” as “coterminous with the transaction” that “is the basis of the litigative unit or entity”). Res judicata applies to a second suit when (1) the parties are identical, (2) the subject matter is the same, and (3) the issues were adjudicated or might have been raised in the former suit. See *Plum Creek Dev. Co., Inc. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1999). Each requirement is met here, and Hughes’ arguments to the contrary are unpersuasive.

Hughes concedes that the federal action he lost at the motion to dismiss stage involved the same parties and the same subject matter as his state suit. Petr.’s Br. 16. Rightly so. Both actions were brought by Hughes against BANA. And the key factual allegations raised in the two actions are identical. They all center on the assertion that Hughes’ parents declined LPP coverage, but BANA charged them for it anyways. (*Compare* R. pp. 19-32 *with* R. pp. 91-108); see *Sub-Zero Freezer*, 308 S.C. at 192, 417 S.E.2d at 571 (affirming that res judicata barred causes of action that all arose out of same transactions). Both actions thus involve the same claim—that is, the same asserted transaction involving BANA charging Hughes’ parents for LPP coverage.

As to the final requirement that the same issues have been previously adjudicated, Hughes acknowledges that *res judicata* bars relitigating all issues that were or *could have been* raised in the former suit. *See Plum Creek*, 334 S.C. at 34, 512 S.E.2d at 109; Petr.’s Br. 16. That concession is fatal: Hughes *did* raise the same fraud-based causes of action in federal court that he raises here. He just voluntarily dismissed them before the court could decide them. *Supra* at 4. In other words, Hughes chose to split his own claim, contrary to the “firmly established” maxim that “[a] party may not split up his demand or prosecute it piecemeal or present only a portion of the grounds upon which relief is sought, and leave the rest for a second suit.” *Floyd*, 187 S.C. at 352, 197 S.E. at 388; *see also Judy*, 393 S.C. at 173, 712 S.E.2d at 415 (“[I]n violation of the doctrine of *res judicata*, [the plaintiff] attempted to ‘split’ his cause of action for waste by pursuing and procuring another remedy in circuit court for an identical claim.”).

Hughes contends that the issues presented in this case could not have been raised in the federal case because, in his view, he lacked a “meaningful” opportunity to litigate those issues in federal court. Petr.’s Br. 17. Relying on an exception to *res judicata* discussed in § 26 of the Restatement (Second) of Judgments (1982) (Restatement), he contends that the federal district court “lacked any jurisdictional mechanism” to overturn this Court’s interpretation of its survival statute. *Id.* According to Hughes, this limitation allows Hughes to split his claim between two cases—forcing BANA to litigate the same action to judgment at every level of the judiciary in two different cases based on the same allegations. But that is not how jurisdiction or *res judicata* works.

The federal court had subject matter jurisdiction to decide Hughes’ fraud claims because *Hughes* pled a federal TILA claim, giving the court federal question jurisdiction over that claim and supplemental jurisdiction over the related fraud-based state-law claims. *See* 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1367. That the federal court would have applied South Carolina’s longstanding precedent

to decide the state-law claims does not reflect any “limitations on the subject matter jurisdiction of the courts” as discussed by the Restatement § 26(1)(c), cmt. c. *See Judy*, 393 S.C. at 169, 712 S.E.2d at 413 (because initial court had subject matter jurisdiction over claim, § 26(1)(c) exception to res judicata did not apply).

Nor can Hughes show any “formal barrier” of the sort discussed in Restatement § 26. The comments to that section discuss, for example, how a transaction might support liability under both state and federal antitrust laws, but because federal courts have “exclusive jurisdiction” over federal antitrust laws, a state antitrust action will not bar a later federal one. Restatement § 26, cmt. c(1) and Illustration 2. Hughes does not show how any similar form of “exclusive jurisdiction” was at play when he brought his initial suit alleging state and federal causes of action and BANA properly removed it to federal court. *Contra* Petr.’s Br. 18.

Hughes does assert that the federal district court could not have certified under Rule 244(a), SCACR the issues he raises here because that rule permits certification only for questions on which there is no controlling precedent. Petr.’s Br. 17. But Hughes devotes much of his brief to (wrongly) arguing that this Court has inconsistently described the scope of the survival statute as applied to fraud and, in fact, he asked the federal district court to certify to this Court “whether the fraud claims belonging to the Estate of Jane Hughes survive” based on the same incorrect arguments. (R. pp. 159-65.) But Hughes never gave the federal court a chance to address that certification request. Instead, he chose to voluntarily dismiss his fraud-based claims (and only those claims) while continuing to litigate his non-fraud claims through every level of the federal judiciary. In any event, the primary barrier to Hughes’ fraud-based claims was not the scope of the survival statute, but his own failure to timely pursue those claims.

Contrary to Hughes' assertion, his arguments also find no support from Restatement § 28. Section 28 concerns issue preclusion, not *res judicata* (*i.e.*, claim preclusion). Although Hughes discusses the two doctrines interchangeably, they are distinct. *See Pye v. Aycock*, 325 S.C. 426, 435, 480 S.E.2d 455, 459 (Ct. App. 1997). Issue preclusion arises when a second action is based on a different claim than the first. *Id.* The doctrine precludes litigation “of only those *issues* ‘actually and necessarily litigated and determined in the first suit,’” and thus looks to whether a party “had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the relevant *issue* effectively in the prior action.” *Id.* (emphases added); *see also Judy v. Judy*, 383 S.C. 1, 7, 677 S.E.2d 213, 217 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Collateral estoppel applies to specific issues, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent suits are the same.”). *Res judicata*, by contrast, bars a second suit between the same parties based on the same *claim*—that is, the same occurrence or transaction—thus “promot[ing] judicial economy and avoid[ing] the harassment of relitigation.” *Plum Creek*, 334 S.C. at 34, 512 S.E.2d at 109 (quoting J. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* p. 642 (1996)).

The requirements and exceptions for each doctrine differ, and Hughes cannot rely on issue preclusion's requirements and exceptions to escape *res judicata*. So, for example, although Hughes *did* have the opportunity to litigate his time-barred fraud claims in federal court, even if he had not, the *issue preclusion* standard of a “full and fair opportunity to litigate” has no bearing on whether *res judicata* applies. Likewise, even if any minimal differences between the equitable tolling standards in state and federal court might affect whether the federal courts' rejection of equitable tolling is *issue preclusive* of the same issue here, they are irrelevant to whether *res judicata* bars Hughes' request to relitigate his state-law causes of action.

In the same vein, although “the potential adverse impact on the public interest has been recognized as a reason to depart from the doctrine of collateral estoppel,” Hughes identifies no

“binding authority recognizing a comparable exception for res judicata.” *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Greenville Cnty.*, 401 S.C. 377, 390-91, 737 S.E.2d 502, 509 (Ct. App. 2013). Instead, res judicata itself “is a doctrine founded upon the objective of preserving and protecting the public interest.” *Id.* at 391, 509. Thus, although Hughes asserts that applying res judicata to his successive action would somehow hurt the public interest, it is Hughes’ proposed exception that would undermine the public’s interest in judicial economy and finality of judgments.

The procedural history of this case starkly exemplifies that harm. Hughes abandoned his fraud causes of action when he anticipated an adverse ruling on them. *Supra* at 4. He then pursued his other claims all the way to the United States Supreme Court. *Supra* at 4-5. Having failed there, he now tries to resurrect his abandoned fraud claims in what he hopes will be a more favorable forum. Meanwhile, BANA has been forced to keep defending itself against the same causes of action based on the same subject matter, despite defeating that claim in the first action. This scenario is exactly what res judicata is meant to prevent. *See* Restatement § 26 cmt. a (“A main purpose of the general rule [against claim splitting] is to protect the defendant from being harassed by repetitive actions based on the same claim.”).

This Court should reject Hughes’ request to create a novel exception to the straightforward doctrine of res judicata. Res judicata bars Hughes’ action and this Court should thus affirm.

B. Hughes’ Claims Are Untimely And Do Not Warrant Equitable Tolling.

This Court may also affirm on the procedural ground that Hughes’ fraud claims are untimely and equitable tolling should not apply. Hughes acknowledges that his fraud-based claims are subject to a three-year limitations period, as were the state-law claims he raised in his initial suit. *See* Petr.’s Br. 19; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(7). The Circuit Court correctly held (like the federal court before it) that Hughes’ claims are untimely and do not present the rare case

that justifies equitable tolling. The objective lack of due diligence by Hughes and his parents cements this conclusion for both timeliness and tolling.

1. Hughes' claims are time-barred.

The limitations periods for Hughes' claims began to run when "the facts and circumstances . . . would [have] put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against another party might exist." *Gibson v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 383 S.C. 399, 406, 680 S.E.2d 778, 782 (Ct. App. 2009). This discovery rule, by looking to "a person of common knowledge and experience," presents an objective standard—not one tied to the plaintiff's special circumstances. *Id.* "A party cannot escape the application of this rule by claiming ignorance of existing facts and circumstances," because the limitations period begins to run "if such facts and circumstances could have been known to the party through the exercise of ordinary care and reasonable diligence." *Burgess v. Am. Cancer Soc., S.C. Div., Inc.*, 300 S.C. 182, 185, 386 S.E.2d 798, 799 (Ct. App. 1989); *see Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363-64, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996) ("We have interpreted the 'exercise of reasonable diligence' to mean that the injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury place a reasonable person of common knowledge and experience on notice that a claim against another party might exist.").

The Circuit Court correctly applied this objective standard to Hughes' allegations that, beginning in June 2006 and continuing "for several years," BANA withdrew \$28.40 monthly from his parents' account. (R. p. 23, ¶ 23.) According to Hughes' own allegations, this monthly charge appeared on John and Jane's bank statements. (R. p. 23, ¶ 23.) Hughes even submitted with his federal complaint a copy of a 2009 bank statement reflecting that charge. (R. p. 120.) The only reasonable inference that could be drawn from these allegations was that Jane either knew or

reasonably should have known about the charges in June 2006. *See Gibson*, 383 S.C. at 407-08, 680 S.E.2d at 783 (“Even when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to Gibson and Mitchell, there is only one reasonable inference as to when they knew or should have known that they had a claim against BOA—when Mitchell received the June 9 statement.”).

A bank statement reflecting a purportedly fraudulent charge or withdrawal objectively puts a reasonable person of common knowledge and experience on notice. *See Citizens & S. Nat’l Bank of S.C. v. State Budget & Control Bd.*, 246 S.C. 140, 144, 142 S.E.2d 874, 875 (1965) (“[W]here the bank renders a statement to the depositor showing him the status of his checking account, it says to him in effect: ‘This bank owes you this stated balance, and no more.’ Such statement may fairly be construed as a notice that any claim the depositor may make in excess of the stated balance would be resisted by the bank.”). Such actual or constructive notice triggers the limitations period—even if the plaintiff is elderly or in ill health. *See Gibson*, 383 S.C. at 407, 680 S.E.2d at 783 (holding that limitations period began to run against 92-year-old when she received bank statements). The Circuit Court did not make and did not have to make factual findings to reach this conclusion—it was the only reasonable conclusion to draw from the factual allegations in Hughes’ complaint.

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